
675 Texas Street

Fairfield, California 94533

www.solanocounty.com

Solano County

Minutes - Final
Board of Supervisors

Erin Hannigan (Dist. 1), Chairwoman

(707) 553-5363

Linda J. Seifert (Dist. 2), Vice-Chair

(707) 784-3031

James P. Spering (Dist. 3)

(707) 784-6136

John M. Vasquez (Dist. 4)

(707) 784-6129

Skip Thomson (Dist. 5)

(707) 784-6130

9:00 AM Board of Supervisors ChambersThursday, June 23, 2016

Special Meeting

CALL TO ORDER

The Solano County Board of Supervisors met on the 23rd day of June 2016 

in special session in the Board of Supervisors' Chambers at the Solano 

County Government Center, 675 Texas Street, Fairfield, California at 9:00 

A.M. Present were Supervisors Seifert, Spering, Thomson, Vasquez and 

Chairwoman Hannigan. Chairwoman Hannigan presided. Also present were 

County Administrator Birgitta E. Corsello and County Counsel Dennis 

Bunting.

ROLL CALL

Linda J. Seifert, Erin Hannigan, James P. Spering, John M. Vasquez and 

Skip  Thomson
Present 5 - 

SALUTE TO THE FLAG AND A MOMENT OF SILENCE

This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors continued with the 

Salute to the Flag and a Moment of Silence.

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Vasquez, the Board 

approved the agenda of the Solano County Board of Supervisors for June 23, 

2016 as submitted. So ordered by 5-0 vote.

Page 1Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

REGULAR CALENDAR

1 16-520 Conduct a noticed/published hearing to consider adoption of the FY2016/17 

Recommended Budget

a. County Administrator’s presentation of the FY2016/17

Recommended and Supplemental Budget

b. Recommendations for consideration and action regarding the 

FY2016/17 Recommended Budget and Supplemental Budget 

documents, including technical adjustments proposed at this hearing

c. Selection of budget units for discussion and Board of Supervisor 

members’ comments

d. Public Comment of the FY2016/17 Recommended Budget

e. Board discussion of budget units selected for discussion by functional 

area

f. Continue FY2016/17 Recommended Budget Hearings as needed 

until conclusion

g. Public Comment of the FY2016/17 Recommended Budget

h. Adopt the Budget and Position Resolutions for FY2016/17 and other 

recommendations included in the Recommended Budget, 

Supplemental Budget  and technical adjustments from the Board 

budget hearings

A - Summary of Supplemental Budget Adjustments

B - Supplemental Adjustments (Explanations)

C - Changes in Permanent Position Allocation & Position Resolutions

D - Summary of Contributions to Non-County Agencies

E - State & Federal Update

F - CalPERS Retirement Rates & Costs

G - Capital Facilities Improvment Plan - June 14, 2016

H - Budget Resolution

I - FY2016-17 Recommended Budget Hyperlink

FY2016/17 Budget Presentation

Resolution 2016-117 Adopting the Budget 2016/17 Fiscal Year

Resolution 2016-118 Amending the Allocation List

Resolution 2016-119 Amending the Allocation List

Legal Notice

Letter from Solano Coalition for Better Health

Minute Order

Attachments:

Chairwoman Hannigan opened the public hearing.

Page 2Solano County

http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=9902
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ff5eec24-64a6-4fb6-83dc-3fe9067f3c8b.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4ea2f1d2-12d6-4324-9ef0-2ba65d2018c1.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5d9fee1b-b45b-43b3-9172-b5095be4cc1f.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=da57fdb2-b494-4dcd-a57f-0baa3b396c8e.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=940a32ff-ddf8-424d-953f-b71d9dc97e76.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d25f898a-c8af-4359-bb70-50d040de87db.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=95be36e5-7f34-49fc-96f5-5e21df61a869.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=000cdb7c-9970-43f1-b2a7-6fc7a0460e11.docx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5c897c32-32e7-4ab0-a2cf-5e4b4de94018.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f9c2dcb3-d285-4bc3-9f03-effebe2e4db2.pptx
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9a4350d8-492c-43ca-9668-9de606a1500c.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7877ac8b-875f-4e1f-bed2-d97430bf6e8c.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=521cd874-6d64-46fa-946e-8d7a9738d468.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7ce09e38-632f-427b-b418-9b4a1ccba94c.doc
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d04c0dfb-4327-41de-8af2-a87cf25b80f2.pdf
http://solano.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8498bf89-4abd-4e5c-b151-a16acfc3b408.pdf


June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

PRESENTATION OF THE FY2016/17 RECOMMENDED BUDGET AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS

County Administrator Birgitta Corsello and Assistant County Administrator 

Nancy Huston provided the Board with an overview of the FY2016/17 

Recommended and Supplemental Budget including information on budget 

instructions for departments, revenues, General Fund property tax analysis, 

expenditures, expenditure assumptions, forecasting challenges, aging 

County population, County population and public assistance, issues and 

exposures, salary and benefits costs vs. staffing, employer retirement rate 

cost increases, public safety revenue sources, court revenues and County 

maintenance of effort costs, FY2016/17 budgeted positions, workforce 

changes since FY2008/09, General Fund contributions to other funds, and 

recommended actions.

Chairwoman Hannigan reviewed the procession of the meeting noting that 

there would be two public commented periods during the meeting.

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS

Supervisor Seifert thanked staff for the increase in hybrid vehicles and 

commented on the Delta Water Activities budget noting that it was 

interesting, very informative and showed the importance and significance of 

the investments done over time for the water issue. 

Supervisor Spering asked where the Transit Development Act (TDA) funds 

were reflected and noted concern about making sure that this allocation 

continued to be put in the budget for seniors and disabled individuals without 

mobility. 

Supervisor Seifert asked that the Public Works budget be pulled for 

discussion on this matter.

Supervisor Spering commented on Parks and Recreation, noting that he 

would like to know if the staffing was adequate and if programs were being 

marginalized.  He also commented on the SCIPS (Solano County Integrated 

Property System) database and asked if improvements were being budgeted 

for. He then asked if any additional revenue was being allocated for the 

Solano360 budget.

Ms. Huston advised that the Solano360 project was still within budget and 

that funds would be re-budgeted from the prior year.

Supervisor Spering commented on the Real Estate Recording Fee being up 

by 24% and asked if staff had looked into this. 

Ms. Huston noted that the department was relied upon to provide a forecast 

on their revenues and that the budget was based on that data.

Page 3Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Spering commented that he would like information on jail 

occupancy and the status of contracting with other counties for revenue 

stream in this area, as well as the status of outstanding problems with the 

Stanton Jail. He then commented on cleanup of dumped trash in the 

unincorporated areas, streamlining of permits, affordable housing outreach, 

and on hiring seniors to help develop the Network of Care website.

SELECTION OF BUDGET UNITS FOR DISCUSSION

The following budget units were selected for further discussion:

1000 - Board of Supervisors, 1117 - General Services, 1150 - 

Assessor/Recorder, 1750 - Promotions, 1815 - Fairgrounds Development 

Project, 1870 - DoIT, 2850 - Sheriff,  2910 - Resource Management, 7500 - 

Health and Social Services, 3010 - Public Works, 5800 - Veteran Services, 

6550 - Sheriff, 7000 - Park and Recreation, 7780 - Behavioral Health, 7880 - 

Health Services, 9129 - Homeacres Loan Program

PUBLIC COMMENT

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on issues pertaining to the FY2016/17 Recommended Budget. The following 

comments were received:

A) George Guynn, Jr., Suisun City, commented on Measure AA, scrutiny of

expenses and pension costs.

B) Donald Tipton, unincorporated Vallejo, commented on ways to cut costs

and the Board members' budgets.

C) Joanie Erickson, Solano Coalition for Better Health, commented on a

request that the County restore the matching funds for the Coalition's Classic 

for Kids event.

Chairwoman Hannigan commented on the matching funds, noting that the 

Coalition was asking that the County retain the matching funds of $125,000 

but that staff had budgeted for $50,000.

Supervisor Seifert asked if someone else might be able to pick up the 

responsibility of conducting the event if the Coalition could not. 

Ms. Erickson advised that she did not believe anyone could unless they were 

able to provide all of the services that the Coalition was providing.

Supervisor Seifert commented on hospital and Partnership participation in 

the event and asked if any discussion with hospitals had taken place 

regarding support for the effort. 

Ms. Erickson noted that the hospitals had been asked to increase their 

Coalition membership fees by 10%, which amounted to an additional 

$50,000 to the Coalition.

Page 4Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

DISCUSSION OF SELECTED BUDGET UNITS

Budget Unit 1000 - Board of Supervisors

Supervisor Thomson commented on the budget instructions noting that the 

instructions to departments targeted no increase in General Fund costs, 

reduce expenditures where possible and limit addition of new positions 

unless supported by mandate. He further commented on increases in the 

Board budgets since 2008 and the need for those budgets to follow the 

same instructions. 

Chairwoman Hannigan asked what the increases were in the Board budgets.

Ms. Huston provided the Board with information on budget increases for the 

Board members’ budgets including the number of Board Aide positions and 

their associated medical, longevity and retirement costs, A87 cost increases 

for room uses, changes to conference costs and costs from equipment 

usage. She noted that liability charges went to Budget Unit 1008.

Supervisor Thomson advised that those costs paled in comparison to a full 

time position with a base salary of $71,000 with 25% in benefits.  He noted 

that the A87 and IT costs were insignificant in comparison to the larger 

budget.

Ms. Corsello advised that is was up to the Board to decide on the number of 

Board Aide positions and that having two Aides per office was consistent 

with other similar counties based on population size. She further advised that 

the County Administrator and Clerk of the Board offices were lean and had 

limited ability to support the Board. She then commented that staffing had 

not been increased in the last year and had been continued as is for the 

Board members’ budgets. She further commented on the overall budget, 

noting that departments had been held harmless on increases in retirement, 

medical, A87 and IT costs and advised that those costs had to be absorbed 

in the small growth of the General Fund. Lastly, she noted that contributions 

to other agencies or funding for events were discussion items for the Board. 

Budget Unit 1750 - Promotion

Chairwoman Hannigan commented on the County's diorama at the State 

Capitol noting that it was outdated. She asked about the budget for this and 

when it would be updated. 

Ms. Huston advised that there was a one-time budget of $5,000 projected for 

the diorama and noted that staff would follow up on this issue. 

Ms. Corsello commented on the diorama noting that there was inaccurate 

data and etched glass in the diorama that had to be dealt with. She advised 

that the intent was to put an animated capability into the diorama that would 

promote the County and provide current updated information. 

Page 5Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Chairwoman Hannigan requested that the new design for the diorama come 

before the Board in the near future for approval.  

Budget Unit 1150 - Assessor/Recorder

Supervisor Thomson noted that the Assessor/Recorder’s Office was an 

example of a department that raised discretionary revenue and asked how 

far behind the department was in supplemental assessments and whether 

additional staff would help.

Ms. Corsello advised that the Assessor/Recorder reported they were keeping 

within the legal requirements.  

Assessor/Recorder Marc Tonnesen advised that the department was 

keeping up with the roll. He noted that a big challenge for the department 

since the economic downturn started had been keeping up with Prop 8 

properties and advised that they had instituted  a computer program to help 

with those properties that was helping resolve this. He further advised that 

they had added a mapper and that once permit activity started to pick up 

then there was a likelihood that he would come back with a request for 

additional appraisers or staff.

Supervisor Thomson asked that a detailed report come back to the Board 

within the next couple of months addressing how the department was doing 

with supplementals and showing when new values were being added to the 

roll.

Budget Unit 1117 - General Services

Supervisor Seifert commented on the recommendations regarding the 

archivist position and noted concerns with the use of language for an 

“as-needed” professional services. She advised that based off of past Board 

discussions, there was a need for a full time person to fill this position.

Ms. Corsello asked Supervisor Seifert if she was recommending the addition 

of a position and asking staff what the cost would be to do that.

Supervisor Seifert clarified that she wanted to know how the person being 

allocated for was going to be used and what the duties would be. 

Assistant General Services Director Kanon Artiche advised that the $43,000 

allocation equated to a .5 FTE and that staff believed these funds could be 

dedicated toward paying for consultant services or to hire a .5 FTE. He 

commented on the recommendations made by the consultant’s report noting 

that the duties outlined were general in nature and able to be covered by 

County staff. He advised that the direction of the Board would dictate 

whether the department used staff to continue with archivist duties or look for 

contractors.

Page 6Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Seifert commented that her concern was not whether the position 

was filled by staff or through a contractor but whether the person was an 

integral part of the process and not just as-needed. 

Mr. Artiche noted that the term “as-needed” was simply a contractual term 

meaning to contract services as they are needed and not that they are not 

essential. 

Supervisor Seifert advised that the language should be changed to make it 

really clear that whoever was hired would be an essential part of the team.

Mr. Artiche advised that staff did not disagree with the importance of making 

sure the person was an integral part of the team. He then provided 

information about the existing rent at the current location housing the records 

collection and relocation costs to move the collection to a conditioned space.

Ms. Corsello noted that the Board had established a committee that would 

be overseeing this process.  She commented that the archivist would assist 

the committee and staff to get to an operational setting.

Budget Unit 1870 - DoIT

Supervisor Seifert commented on the theme of automatic and technology 

related solutions being used by all of the departments. She recommended 

that a technology capital spending plan be brought before the Board that 

outlined all of the proposed technology solutions coming out of the 

departments so that a technology spending plan could be formed. She 

commented on the costs of technology being very high and the need for the 

Board to be able to plan and set aside funds for technology moving forward.

Chief Information Officer Ira Rosenthal noted that the Department of 

Information Technology went through an exercise two years ago of 

identifying tactical improvements for departments based on previously 

identified needs and improvements. He advised that the department had 

been working off of the list from that exercise since then. He noted the 

importance of knowing where improvements to business were needed so 

that technology could then assist with those improvements.

Supervisor Seifert advised that the Board should have a chance to look at 

something like this when making decisions on policy.

Ms. Corsello advised that what was being asked for was done about nine 

years ago. She noted that strategic platform guidance had been created and 

that the department had been using that to work from. She then advised that 

she had asked Mr. Rosenthal to meet with all of the departments last year to 

start evaluating what was in place and what all of their needs were moving 

forward. She noted that an IT Strategic Plan would be a long process and 

that staff would need to come back to the Board in order for direction on how 

to undertake this and to review strategic initiatives moving forward.

Page 7Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Seifert suggested that once developed, this plan should be 

something that is reported annually to the Board.

Budget Unit 1700 - Accumulated Capital Outlay

Director of General Services Mike Lango provided the Board with information 

on the Stanton Jail facility design repairs and warranty work that needed to 

be done.  

Supervisor Spering asked whether the funding allocation would be adequate 

to finish the project.

Ms. Corsello advised that the facility was open and that funding should be 

adequate to finish the project.

Mr. Lango noted that eight of the pods within the facility were occupied at 

this time.

Budget Unit 6550 - Sheriff/Coroner

Sheriff Tom Ferrara noted that there were currently 208 inmates in the 

Stanton facility and that it was his intention to fill the facility.

Supervisor Spering commented on potential revenue sources noted in the 

budget and asked if contracting with other counties created any conflicts.

Sheriff Ferrara advised that 95% of the cells within the facility had two beds 

however, he noted that some agencies didn't want to house their inmates in 

double bed cells for safety reasons. He commented on the challenge of 

finding a compromise on housing arrangements and on contracts with Napa 

and Sonoma counties. He further commented on the ability to take more 

inmates but advised that there were repairs happening at the downtown jail 

currently that impacted this. He noted that he anticipated receiving 

approximately $3.5 million in revenue next year from the contracts.

Supervisor Spering commented on the need to make sure revenues were 

actively being pursued on this matter.

Sheriff Ferrara commented on the ability to rent beds and have staff costs 

remain the same. He noted that the Napa Sheriff would be coming forward to 

thank Solano County for its help on housing inmates.

Budget Unit 2850 - Animal Care Services

Supervisor Thomson commented on revenues generated by license, permit 

and franchise fees that were lower than the cost of the contract with Pet 

Data to manage those matters.

Page 8Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Director of Administrative Services Angelica Russell confirmed that the 

animal license fee generated about $40,000 and that the contract with Pet 

Data was about $89,000.  She noted that the department would be looking at 

this and working on a Request for Proposal to see if there were other 

companies that could provide the service for less.

Supervisor Thomson advised that the budget was a million dollar hit to the 

General Fund and that it didn’t seem efficient to pay more than revenues 

being received. He requested that this be looked into.

Sheriff Ferrara advised that the contract would be coming up for renewal 

soon and that staff would be looking at this matter.

Budget Unit 2910 - Resource Management

Supervisor Seifert commented that Resource Management was challenged 

to fulfil responsibilities on all of the various issues the department deals with 

and on the importance of making sure the department is adequately funded 

and has the resources to provide more service. 

Ms. Corsello commented that this was a recognized issue and noted that 

discussions were happening around when and where to add staff back.

Director of Resource Management Bill Emlen noted that the department had 

gone through a lot of transition in staffing over the last year and that they 

were finally getting fully staffed up to what had been allocated to them.  He 

advised that he would like to see how things played out for now, noting that 

there should be improvements in permit processing and code enforcement to 

be seen.  He commented that he was optimistic that the department would 

be able to improve its responsiveness to issues. Lastly, he advised that at 

some point in the future the department would need to look at whether it had 

adequate staffing for some areas, but would like to see how things improved 

currently first.

Supervisor Seifert commented on a situation she had experienced in her 

office with trying to appease a constituent on an issue that had been going 

on over the last year. She noted a need to improve things so that it did not 

take so long to resolve matters like this.

Mr. Emlen commented on code enforcement and reviewed what tools were 

in place to assist and what tools or improvements were needed. He advised 

that staff was working with County Counsel on this and that there should be 

improvements seen soon.

Supervisor Thomson commented that there was now an expert in County 

Counsel to assist with code enforcement issues. He advised that this was an 

important area for improvement. 

Supervisor Spering asked if trash cleanup was adequately funding and 

whether the annual cleanup program was in the budget.

Page 9Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Mr. Emlen noted that the budget did include increasing commitment to the 

cleanup program and funding for a position in the Sheriff’s Office that 

identifies dumping areas and issues.

Supervisor Vasquez commented that he had watched the department get 

better over time on these issues and on the importance of enforcement. He 

then suggested having a phone number for residents to call to identify 

dumping that would have a more direct effect and noted that it was a good 

team effort taking place.

Mr. Emlen commented on the diversity of issues and noted that it made for 

interesting work. 

In response to a question from Ms. Corsello, the Board indicated that they 

would like the department to come back with information on how to expand 

the trash program.

Budget Unit 9129 - Homeacres Loan Program

In response to a request from Chairwoman Hannigan, Principal Planner Matt 

Walsh provided the Board with an overview of the Homeacres Loan 

Program, noting that demand and eligibility for the loan was low. He advised 

that staff had opened the program up to other unincorporated County areas.

Chairwoman Hannigan noted that there was $1.3 million in the budget.

Mr. Walsh advised that there were some property owners with failing lateral 

sewer systems that were being helped by the program in partnership with 

the Vallejo Sanitation and Flood Control District. He noted that staff was 

working with Mr. Tipton regarding that program and with other homeowners 

that might be interested in the program as well.

Chairwoman Hannigan noted that this was a lot of money circulating that 

could be useful elsewhere.

Ms. Corsello advised that this was one of the pots of money identified for use 

that hadn’t been used in a while.  She noted that there were 30 deferred 

interest loans issued at the peak of the program and that this was an 

opportunity for the Board to look at the parameters for this pot of money and 

whether to explore partnering with other agencies such as Habitat for 

Humanity for various housing needs and homeless challenges.

In response to a question from Supervisor Seifert, Mr. Walsh noted that the 

money could be used for ADA improvements.

Budget Unit 7000 - Parks and Recreation

Supervisor Spering asked if the division was adequately staffed and whether 

there was access to all of the facilities.

Page 10Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Mr. Emlen noted that there was a core of volunteers in place and that the 

division had received added staffing last year, providing a reasonable 

position to staff the current facilities. He advised that there were ongoing 

discussions around regional parks and noted that there would be challenges 

to staffing if covered areas were expanded. He commented that the biggest 

challenge happened when someone was out on extended leave but that 

overall the division was able to keep the facilities open with current staffing 

levels.  

Ms. Corsello advised that a series of repairs at the parks would be funded 

through capital improvement this year, recognizing that the park budget 

couldn’t fund these repairs on its own.

In response to Supervisor Spering, Mr. Emlen noted that there was more 

access to parks now in regards to hours than there had been in a number of 

years. 

Ms. Corsello noted that the department was still providing technical 

assistance to the Land Trust in the acquisition of land that would extend one 

of the parks. She advised that there would likely need to be more staff if it 

was successful. 

Supervisor Seifert provided an update on efforts being conducted by both 

herself and Supervisor Vasquez to work with Resource Management on the 

park system efforts. She advised that they had engaged two different 

consultants, one for public outreach and the other to look at park modeling to 

work on the effort and advised that a report would likely be coming back later 

in the summer.

Mr. Emlen advised that there was funding in the budget for the current 

activities and for some additional technical assistance as it moved forward.  

He noted that a consultant was helping to explore creation of a park district 

funding in the budget for this and that public outreach would follow that. 

Budget Unit 3010 - Public Works

Mr. Emlen provided the Board with information on TDA (Transportation 

Development Act) funding passed through to the STA (Solano 

Transportation Authority) to pay for paratransit services.

In response to a question from Supervisor Spering, Ms. Corsello noted that 

page I-3 included a statement regarding a decrease in TDA funds and noted 

that it was a direct pass through.

Mr. Emlen advised that staff would be back before the Board in 2017 for 

direction on whether to extend the pass through process for the TDA funds.

Supervisor Seifert commented on the failure of the recent transportation 

measure and asked whether there would be a report back to the Board on 

what the impacts were in the next coming years. 

Page 11Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Ms. Corsello advised that she had met with STA Executive Director Darryl 

Halls that week and noted that they were waiting for an election detail 

breakout to get an idea of where and how the measure failed. She noted that 

he was working with public works staffs and would be going to the STA 

Board with program prioritization recommendations. She commented that the 

intent was that this update would be worked on through the STA Board and 

brought to a 4Cs meeting in August or to a Board meeting.

Budget Unit 7500 - H&SS - Non-profits

Supervisor Seifert commented on the Solano County Coalition for Better 

Health’s request of an additional $75,000. She noted concerns that the 

County had its own constraints and suggested that the Coalition look to other 

sources for funding support.

Director of Health and Social Services Gerald Huber provided the Board with 

information on the Coalition, noting that it was in transition and that the future 

of the Coalition was being looked at strategically. He advised that they were 

looking at what Partnership and other health partners could bring to the table 

to support efforts and that there should be equal contribution to the Coalition.

Supervisor Seifert commented on the possibility of the County having to pay 

for support of the Coalition’s event if the Coalition was unable to get partners 

to come forward. She commented on the need to get other agencies 

involved to help with this. She asked whether the Coalition could raise funds 

from other partners to cover the needed support.

Ms. Corsello advised that the recommendations for contributions to 

non-profits were made by CAO staff with a lot of thought to what was being 

recommended. 

Supervisor Spering suggested putting a matching fund in place up to 

$37,500 so that the County matched what was raised by other partners and 

contributors. 

Chairwoman Hannigan asked what the shortfall would be in outreach in 

terms of how many children would be covered.

Principal Management Analyst Ron Grassi provided the Board with an 

overview of the recommendations for contributions to non-profits.

Ms. Corsello provided the Board with information on all of the areas that 

contribution funding was being provided for. She advised that the Board 

could direct to have funds moved around but felt that the contribution levels 

were sufficient.

Mr. Huber commented on integration of behavioral and physical health and 

noted that staff was looking at whether funding opportunities for this. He then 

mentioned that there was opportunity for the Coalition to become involved in 

other areas such as the Area Agency on Aging Serving Napa-Solano in the 

future.

Page 12Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Chairwoman Hannigan noted that there were other areas of funding for 

adequate care of undocumented children and adults.

Supervisor Seifert suggested consideration of the matching funds proposed 

by Supervisor Spering. She commented on the importance of keeping all 

children insured made a motion to add $37,500 to the contribution for the 

Coalition.  

Chairwoman Hannigan suggested changing the addition to indicate a 

contribution of up to $37,500 as matching funds.

Ms. Corsello clarified that the motion was to leave the recommendations of 

$50,000 for premiums, $25,000 for coordination of initiatives, and $100,000 

for enrollment and training in place and add $37,500 in matching funds for 

premiums that the Coalition was asking to turn into staff costs, in addition to 

the $156,000 that was repurposed at First 5 from premiums to staff work.

Supervisor Thomson commented that he could not support the County 

paying for something that the nonprofit should be doing.  

Budget Unit 7780 - Behavioral Health

Supervisor Spering noted that the Network of Care (NOC) was a tremendous 

tool that seemed to be stalled and asked how to get it up and going. 

Mr. Huber noted that the NOC had stalled several times but that the 

department was hiring an intern in Employment and Eligibility to be sure the 

NOC data was up to date. He commented on challenges of keeping data up 

to date and noted that the department wanted to focus on aging issues as 

well. 

Supervisor Spering commented on the need to put resources in place to get 

the program up and running. He suggested that staff come back with a 

recommendation to fund a position to do this if that is what it took.

Ms. Corsello noted that the vision was that the NOC could be supported 

within the public health clinic setting so that there was a portal for clients. 

She advised that the department would need to come back with description 

on how to make that happen and how to recover costs.

Supervisor Spering commented that getting the program in place would help 

relieve some pressure off of nonprofits.

Mr. Huber commented on the need to make sure the NOC was marketed 

well. 

Supervisor Spering commented that agencies could refer their clients to the 

NOC when it was up and running and that this would help with promoting 

and marketing.

Page 13Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Budget Unit 7880 - Health Services

Supervisor Spering commented on a recent grand jury report regarding the 

homeless and asked what the County was doing on homeless outreach and 

affordable housing. 

Mr. Huber provided the Board with information on activities that the 

department had been working on in relation to housing and healthcare for 

the homeless. 

Supervisor Vasquez commented that there was a lot of County efforts 

happening around this but noted that the County could not provide actual 

homes and that the cities were the ones that would have to do that. He 

advised that the issue of homelessness wouldn’t go away until the two areas 

were able to be bridged together or an opportunity came up to work together 

on it.

Ms. Corsello advised that Mr. Huber was meeting with several cities on an 

ongoing basis to discuss housing and treatment needs for the homeless 

population. She noted that the Board had previously approved a partnership 

among the County and the City of Fairfield and Mission Solano as well as a 

partnership with Habitat for Humanity and the City of Dixon as a start to 

working together on this issue. She noted that the City of Vacaville was also 

working on concepts and that the Board had previously approved hiring a 

consultant to work with CAP Solano to update the housing plan so that wise 

investments could be made for the million dollars of HUD funds received 

each year. She advised that the direction from the federal government was 

to move away from shelter beds and instead provide transitional or 

subsidized housing. She commented that each city had acquired additional 

Section 8 vouchers but were finding challenges in locating places that would 

take them.

Deputy Director of Health and Social Services - Mental Health Halsey 

Simmons provided the Board with information on activities and support 

provided to the homeless by the Mental Health division. 

In response to a question from Supervisor Spering, Mr. Simmons noted that 

most clients are county residents.

Budget Unit 5800 - Veteran Services

Supervisor Thomson noted that Veteran Services brought in $26 million in 

new dollars to veterans and commented on the need to look at services the 

department provided when considering whether to add any more positions to 

that department in the future.

Page 14Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Budget Unit 1815 - Fairgrounds Development Project

In response to a question from Supervisor Spering, Ms. Huston noted that 

the Board had approved a loan of up to $6.6 million last year for the 

Solano360 Project and advised that staff was continuing with that amount 

into this year.

Ms. Corsello noted that staff was continuing to work with the Fair and that 

there was a recommendation to put additional money in capital renewal and 

reinvestment to the extent that the Fair may need help fixing buildings and/or 

that the County would need to do demolitions so that the Fair could operate 

in the transition. She further noted that staff would be bringing this back to 

the Board.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Chairwoman Hannigan invited members of the public to address the Board 

on issues pertaining to the FY2016/17 Recommended Budget. The following 

comments were received:

A) Donald Tipton, unincorporated Vallejo, commented on year end balances

for the East Vallejo Fire Protection District, the Solano County Fair, a lighting 

district fund, the Board members’ budgets and the period for public speaking.

Ms. Corsello commented on the recommended budget for the East Vallejo 

Fire Protection District noting that if revenues came in higher, then staff was 

asking for the ability to roll those in to cover costs of contract services.

B) George Guynn, Jr., Suisun City, commented on illegal immigration, the

Board members' budgets and automation taking the place of employing 

individuals. 

C) Joanie Erickson, Solano County Coalition for Better Health, commented

on premium costs, keeping programs open, on the ability of the Coalition to 

raise funds for the approved County match and noted that they would be 

requesting assistance from hospitals on other initiatives as well.

Following public comments, the Board took action to approve the FY2016/17 

Recommended Budget. (See actions in bold at the conclusion of the minutes)

Supervisor Seifert thanked staff for all of the work done on the budget. She 

then commented on the need to look at technology and compaction issues 

within departments. She also noted a need to be mindful of challenges that 

make jobs difficult and strategies to assist with this.

Page 15Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

Supervisor Spering advised that all five Board members brought something 

uniquely different to the Board and noted the benefits of having staff in the 

Board offices to work on efforts affecting the community. He commented that 

a modest increase in the budget was well spent for the amount of funding 

that comes in from these efforts. He noted that all of the Board members and 

staff worked hard on efforts that often go unseen. He then thanked all 

department heads and staff for the work done on the budget.

Supervisor Vasquez thanked staff for the work done on the budget and for 

the work they do every day. He commented on the importance of keeping 

employees and having staff in the Board offices to work on issues. 

Chairwoman Hannigan thanked all the department heads and staff that 

worked on the budget and that answered her questions.

Chairwoman Hannigan closed the public hearing.

ADOPTION OF THE FY2016/17 RECOMMENDED BUDGET

Supervisor Seifert made a motion to add matching funds up to $37,500 for the 

Solano Coalition for Better Health. The motion was seconded by Supervisor 

Spering. Supervisor Thomson voted no. So ordered by 4-1.

On motion of Supervisor Seifert, seconded by Supervisor Spering, the Board: 

1. Adopted Resolution No. 2016-117 which includes both the FY2016/17

Recommended Budget and the FY2016/17 Supplemental Budget;

2. Approved the Changes in Position Allocation List reflecting allocated

positions included in the Recommended and Supplemental Budgets and 

Adopted Resolution No. 2016-118 and 2016-119 amending the List of Numbers 

and Classifications of Positions incorporating the deletions and additions 

recommended in the FY2016/17 Recommended Budget, as modified by the 

Supplemental Budget requests for FY2016/17;

3. Approved the Recommended Contributions to Non-County Agencies as

included in the Recommended and Supplemental Budgets;

4. Authorized the Director of Human Resources, with the concurrence of the

County Administrator, to make technical changes to the Position Allocation 

List;

5. Authorized the County Administrator to delete positions that have been

vacant for over six months, in accordance with the 2011 Budget Reduction 

Strategy of eliminating or freezing vacant positions and only filling positions 

that are “Mission Critical” to the organization, and to accordingly direct the 

Director of Human Resources to make technical changes to the Position 

Allocation List as needed;

6. Authorized the Auditor-Controller, with the concurrence of the County

Administrator, to make adjustments after the close of the Budget Hearings and 

the end of the fiscal year as needed and where applicable to balance the 

FY2016/17 Adopted Budget;

Page 16Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

7. Authorized the Auditor-Controller, with the concurrence of the County

Administrator, to transfer appropriations within a fund to cover FY2015/16 

year-end close-out if justified, subject to the transfer(s) not increasing the total 

appropriation within the fund;

8. Authorized the Auditor-Controller, with the concurrence of the County

Administrator to increase the committed Employer CalPERS Rate Reserve by 

repayments to the General Fund from Pension Debt Service Fund;

9. Authorized the Auditor-Controller to apply year-end available fund balance at

6/30/2016 as an Operating Transfer Out to the Library Contingency (BU 9304) in 

the following Budget Units: Library Zone 1 (BU6150), Library Zone 2(BU 6180), 

Library Zone 6 (BU 6166), and Library Zone 7 (BU 6167);

10. Authorized the Auditor-Controller to increase appropriations in the

Department of Child Support Services Operations Division (BU 2488, subobject 

0002312) by the available year-end fund balance at 6/30/2016;

11. Authorized the Auditor-Controller to increase appropriations in the East

Vallejo Fire Protection District (BU 9814, subobject 0002245) by available 

year-end fund balance;

12. Authorized the Auditor-Controller, with the concurrence of the County

Administrator, to increase (from the 6/30/2016 year-end close/fund balance) the 

following:

i. Committed Fund Balance - Capital Renewal by $3.9 million; and

ii. Committed Fund Balance - Employer CalPERS Rate by $2.0 million

13. Authorize the County Administrator, assisted by the Auditor-Controller, to

draw down:

i. Committed Fund Balance - Capital Renewal by $2.8 million to fund the

various projects in the Accumulated Outlay Fund; and

ii. Committed Fund Balance - Employer CalPERS Rate by $2.0 million to

cover rising retirement costs;

iii. Committed Fund Balance - Unfunded Employee Leave Payouts by $1.0

million to fund employee leave payouts that cannot be absorbed within the 

departmental budgets.

14. In the event the General Fund’s year-end fund balance exceeds the amount

needed to balance the FY2016/17 Budget, as may be authorized by the Board of 

Supervisors following Budget Hearing deliberations, the Board authorized the 

County Administrator to direct the Auditor-Controller to:

i. Increase the General Fund Committed Fund Balance for Deferred

Maintenance/Capital Renewal up to $4.0 million; and

ii. Increase the General Fund Committed Fund Balance for the Employer

CalPERS Rate Increases up to $3.0 million;

iii. Increase the General Fund Committed Fund Balance for General Fund

Reserves up to $4.0 million in anticipation of funding shortfalls in FY2016/17.

iv. Partially or wholly payoff the outstanding principal balance of the General

Fund loan for Pension Obligation Bonds.

Page 17Solano County



June 23, 2016Board of Supervisors Minutes - Final

15. Authorized the County Administrator to transfer potential General Fund

savings from all effected departments to the Employer CalPERS Rate Reserve 

resulting from lower than budgeted medical coverage costs for the FY2016/17 

Budget;

16. Authorized the County Administrator to transfer remaining disaster funds

resulting from one-time State Reimbursement of Mandated Costs in FY2015/16 

totaling up to $4.6 million, net of costs for existing work in process on drought 

and flood related projects to Deferred Maintenance / Capital Renewal Reserves 

as outlined in the FY2016/17 Recommended Budget; and

17. Authorized the County Administrator to sign all agreements and/or contract

amendments resulting from the Board’s approval of the Recommended Budget 

and Supplemental Budget requests.

So ordered by 5-0.

RECESS/ADJOURN:

This meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors adjourned at 12:24 

P.M.  Next meeting of the Solano County Board of Supervisors will be June 

28, 2016 at 8:30 A.M., Board Chambers, 675 Texas Street, Fairfield, 

California.

________________________________

ERIN HANNIGAN, Chairwoman

Solano County Board of Supervisors

BIRGITTA E. CORSELLO, Clerk

Solano County Board of Supervisors

By ______________________________

Jeanette Neiger, Chief Deputy Clerk

Page 18Solano County


